RECEIVED

Jun 12 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

*On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Sumter County
Court of Common Pleas (Post-Conviction Relief)
The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge*

CAPITAL CASE

Appellate Case No. 2026-000115

BOBBY WAYNE STONE, RESPONDENT,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, PETITIONER.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Did the PCR court err in using the Flynn Effect to lower Bobby Wayne Stone's IQ scores, when there is no authority in South Carolina law supporting the practice and courts nationwide have been divided about whether and how the Flynn Effect should be used in evaluating a claim of ineligibility for the death penalty under *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2002)?

II.

Did the PCR court err in finding that Stone met his burden of proving intellectual disability by a preponderance of the evidence when only one of Stone's unadjusted IQ scores could even conceivably be taken as an indication his IQ might be below 70, and three other scores indicated that it likely was not? If so, how should a court weigh multiple scores in the context of an *Atkins* evaluation?

III.

Should *Atkins*, and by extension this Court's decision in *Franklin v. Maynard*, 356 S.C. 276, 588 S.E.2d 604 (2003), be revisited to either (a) clarify the class of individuals who are ineligible for the death penalty under any national consensus; or (b) reconsider whether the exemption is truly supported by a national consensus?

IV.

Should this Court's practice of allowing successive actions on free-standing *Atkins* claims be revisited and curtailed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A little more than thirty years ago, Bobby Wayne Stone shot and killed Sergeant Charles Kubala of the Sumter Police Department as Sgt. Kubala was responding to a call reporting gunshots in Ruth Griffith's back yard. *See State v. Stone*, 350 S.C. 442, 444, 567 S.E.2d 244, 245 (2002) (*Stone I*). Kubala suffered gunshot wounds to his right ear and neck, and "died at the scene." *Id.* Stone was convicted of murder, first degree burglary, and a weapons possession violation. *Id.* at 445, 567 S.E.2d at 245. Stone received a death sentence for the murder.

On appeal, this Court reversed Stone's sentence because of three errors by the trial court on sentencing not relevant to this appeal. *See generally Stone I*, 350 S.C. at 448–52, 567 S.E.2d at 247–49. The resentencing jury likewise sentenced Stone to death. *See State v. Stone*, 376 S.C. 32, 35, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488 (2007) (*Stone II*). On appeal, this Court affirmed Stone's second sentence because he had not preserved an alleged error by the resentencing court. *Id.* at 35–36, 567 S.E. 2d at 488–89.

Stone's application for PCR was denied. *See Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 379, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (*Stone III*). After granting certiorari on questions regarding victim impact evidence, Stone's potential brain damage, and the defense's theory of the case, this Court affirmed the PCR court's denial of relief. *Id.* This Court observed that "Stone does in fact suffer from organic brain damage and significant intellectual impairment," *id.* at 395, 798 S.E.2d at 574, but found that his counsel had not failed to meet "an objective standard of reasonableness" in dealing with this evidence, *id.* at 403–04, 798 S.E.2d at 579. By then, around 21 years had passed since the killing of Sgt. Kubala.

In 2018, Stone filed another application for post-conviction relief; Stone argued in part that he was intellectually disabled and ineligible for the death penalty under *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S.

304, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2002) and its progeny, as well as this Court’s decision in *Franklin v. Maynard*, 356 S.C. 276, 588 S.E.2d 604 (2003). (App. pp. 370–74). The *Atkins* PCR court dismissed the other grounds in the second PCR, but allowed Stone to move forward with his claim that he has an intellectual disability. (App. pp. 576–91).

By order dated July 3, filed July 9, 2019, the *Atkins* PCR Court directed the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs to conduct an *Atkins* evaluation. (App. pp. 594–604). Subsequently, this Court, along with counsel for the parties, received the DDSN report by the court’s expert, Dr. Alicia V. Hall, Ph.D., on December 2, 2022. (App. pp. 965–79).

Dr. Hall acknowledged in her report that “Mr. Stone’s case presents a complexity that does not lend it to an obvious decision.” (App. p. 976). Ultimately, she concluded that Stone “appears to meet criteria on the first prong” for intellectual disability under South Carolina law, and that he “has met the second prong” as well. (App. p. 976) Dr. Hall deferred to the PCR Court to make a final determination, but shared her “opinion, based on the totality of the data,” that Stone met the criteria under S.C. Code § 16-3-20 (C)(b)(10) (2003)—as the statute says, “significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period.” (App. p. 976; § 16-3-20 (C)(b)(10)).

The PCR court held an evidentiary hearing regarding Stone’s claim on July 30–31, 2024. Stone attended, along with his counsel Rosland Major, Esq., and Charles Grose, Esq. The State of was represented by Melody J. Brown, Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General, with Assistant Attorneys General Tommy Evans, Jr., and R. Brandon Larrabee. The Court heard from four experts in the mental health field, and a former school psychologist in a school district where Stone attended.

The *Atkins* PCR Court first heard from Stone’s expert, Dr. Sarah Boyd, who was found qualified as an expert in the psychology of intellectual disability. (App. p. 36). She testified that she gave Stone an IQ test to assist in the diagnosis of intellectual disability. (App. p. 132). In Stone’s IQ score on that test was 79. (App. p. 138). Dr. Boyd testified that, according to records, Stone’s initial IQ test score was 86. (App. p. 137). This test was given before he was 10 years old. Dr. Boyd testified that this test was “possibly tainted” (App. p. 137–38). A second test more than a year later showed he scored 78. (App. p. 138; p. 853). At the age of 14, Stone was once again given an IQ test, which produced a score within a range of 69–75. (App. p. 174, 853).

Dr. Hall also testified, saying she had applied the “Flynn Effect”¹ to Stone’s scores, though she testified that it was “best practice” in *Atkins* cases, but that questions remain about its application in “clinical settings.” (App. p. 281). Further, Dr. Hall conceded that when the American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities manual references application of the Flynn Effect, it also acknowledges the limitations and lack of conclusion. (App. p. 282).

The State called Dr. Michael Vitacco who was found qualified as an expert in the field of forensic psychology. (App. p. 311). Dr. Vitacco considered the methodology of the forensic psychologists who found Stone intellectually disabled. (App. p. 311–12). He expressed concerns with some of the methodology used to diagnose Stone. (App. pp. 312–20).

Dr. Kimberly Kruse also testified. Dr. Kruse was found qualified as an expert in the field of forensic psychology. (App. p. 328). Dr. Kruse was asked to provide an opinion on intellectual functioning. (App. p. 328–29).

¹ The Fourth Circuit explained that the theory behind the Flynn Effect “posits that IQ scores rise over time and that IQ tests that are not “re-normed” to adjust for rising IQ levels will overstate a testee’s IQ.” *Walker v. True*, 399 F.3d 315, 322 (4th Cir. 2005).

Dr. Kruse testified that Applicant had a non-verbal brain disorder. (App. p. 329–30). This affects the non-verbal aspects of learning, or anything that does not involve language vocabulary. (App. p. 330). It can implicate the ability to “see the big picture or the whole of something versus the details.” (App. p. 330). Kruse testified that a non-verbal learning disorder is different than an intellectual disability. (App. p. 330).

Dr. Kruse also testified about Applicant’s previous IQ scores as found in his school records. (App. p. 331). Stone’s scores dropped between age 11 and age 14; Dr. Kruse attributed this to Stone’s difficulty in the educational environment caused by Stone’s difficult home setting. (App. p. 332).

In Dr. Kruse’s opinion Stone had a learning disability and did not have an intellectual developmental disorder. (App. p. 335). Moreover, even applying confidence intervals, his scores still fall above the cut off. (App. p. 335).

As for the Flynn Effect, Dr. Kruse testified that it could be used on the first test given to Stone. (App. pp. 337–38). Dr. Kruse testified that there was no reason to apply the Flynn Effect to his second test, and in that case the score was well above the cut off for intellectual developmental disorder. (App. pp. 337–38). In her opinion, Stone did not meet the criteria for being intellectually disabled. (App. p. 338).

Finally, the State called Dr. Elaine Harris to testify. Dr. Harris was a school psychologist in Sumter School District 17, where Applicant attended school. (App. p. 330). Dr. Harris began her employment in 1977 (App. p. 353). She retired as a psychologist in 2015. (App. p. 361). Dr. Harris administered one of the IQ tests to Applicant during these school years. (App. p. 355). Dr. Harris testified that at the time of testing, as the law was interpreted, Applicant qualified as being in the educable mentally handicapped range because of his full-scale IQ, even though Applicant had

some areas in the average range. (App. pp. 359–60). Dr. Harris stated that since that time, the definition for being intellectually disabled had been refined. Dr. Harris stated during her testimony, “In this particular instance he would not have been found as ID.” (App. p. 362).

The PCR court granted relief. (App. p. 1–23). In its order, the court lowered some of Stone’s IQ scores to account for the Flynn Effect as part of its consideration of whether Stone met the intellectual functioning prong of the *Atkins* review. (App. pp. 11–12). The court later denied the State’s motion to alter or amend its judgment. (App. pp. 832–33).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Certiorari Review

“A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons.” Rule 242(b), SCACR.

Atkins Claims

The lower court’s “ruling regarding an *Atkins* determination will be upheld on appeal if supported by the evidence and not against its preponderance.” *State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 143, 801 S.E.2d 713, 722 (2017). Where the ruling “is unsupported by evidence or controlled by an error of law,” the ruling should be reversed. *Id.*, at 136, 801 S.E.2d at 722.

ARGUMENT

Courts have struggled to apply the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Atkins v. Virginia* and the cases that follow it for years now. See *Hamm v. Smith*, 608 U.S. —, —, 146 S. Ct. 1251, 1264 (2026) (Thomas, J., dissenting from dismissal of certiorari as improvidently granted) (contending that “*Atkins* has bred only confusion and absurdity”); *id.* at —, 146 S. Ct. at 1285 (Alito, J., dissenting from dismissal of certiorari as improvidently granted) (arguing the Court “should have used this case to bring clarity to our *Atkins* doctrine”); *Moore v. Texas*, 586 U.S. 133, 143, 139 S. Ct. 666, 672 (2019) (Roberts, C.J., concurring) (holding that the Court’s instructions to lower courts in a previous decision “lacked clarity”). Stone’s case highlights two questions for this Court regarding how South Carolina courts should consider claims of intellectual disability under *Atkins*. First, whether courts should use the “Flynn Effect” to lower a defendant’s IQ when making an *Atkins* determination; and second, how courts should consider multiple IQ scores under the intellectual functioning prong of *Atkins*.

The Law Under Atkins and Its Progeny

Without unnecessarily belaboring the issue, a brief recap of the United States Supreme Court’s journey on intellectual disabilities and the death penalty will help in focusing the issues.

The roots of the Court’s intellectual disability jurisprudence took hold in *Penry v. Lynaugh*, 492 U.S. 302, 109 S. Ct. 2934, 106 L. Ed. 2d 256 (1989). In that case, a splintered Court found that no national consensus had developed to bar the execution of people with intellectual disabilities. *Id.* at 334, 109 S. Ct. at 2955. But a different majority—both included Justice O’Connor—found that jurors had to be informed that they could consider intellectual disability as a mitigating factor in determining the sentence. *Id.* at 328, 109 S. Ct. at 2952.

The Court changed course in *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2002). There, the majority found that in the 13 years following *Penry*, “a national consensus has developed against” allowing people with intellectual disabilities to be sentenced to death. *Id.* at 316, 122 S. Ct. at 2249. The Court appeared to peg the definition of intellectual disability as somewhere around 70 or perhaps 75. *See Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. at 309 n.3, 122 S. Ct. at 2245 n.3; *id.* at 309 n. 5, 122 S. Ct. at 2245 n.3.² But the consensus essentially ended there. “Not all people who claim to be mentally retarded will be so impaired as to fall within the range of mentally retarded offenders about whom there is a national consensus.” *Id.* at 317, 122 S. Ct. at 2250. As a result, the Court found, the states should determine how to make sure that defendants with intellectually disabilities were not executed. *Id.*

The next major case the Court considered regarding intellectual disability was *Hall v. Florida*, 572 U.S. 701, 134 S. Ct. 1986, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1007 (2014).³ There, the majority cautioned against rigid distinctions based on IQ scores, in part because of the “standard error of measurement” included in each score. *See id.* at 712–13, 134 S. Ct. at 1995. While rejecting state laws that established an IQ of 70 as a strict cutoff, the Court also noted that “the analysis of multiple

² *See Atkins*, 536 U.S. at 309 n. 3 (observing “‘Mild’ mental retardation is typically used to describe people with an IQ level of 50–55 to approximately 70.”); *id.* at 309 n. 5 (“an IQ between 70 and 75 or lower . . . is typically considered the cutoff IQ score for the intellectual function prong of the mental retardation definition.”); *see also* American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (“the AAIDD”), *The Death Penalty and Intellectual Disability* (2014) (“Variability of IQ Test Scores” by Stephen Greenspan and J. Gregory Olley, describing the “conventional upper limit of 70–75”); PCR testimony of Dr. Alicia Hall (testifying that “significant cognitive deficits or intellectual deficits” equates to levels that are “at least two standard deviations below th[e] mean of 100, which would be 70 or below”; however, the level “can actually go up to about 75 and still meet criteria for intellectual disability because their adaptive functioning is so impaired”) (App. p. 209).

³ In between, the Court decided in *Tennard v. Dretke* that a defendant did not have to show a “nexus” between the intellectual disability and the criminal act to be protected by *Atkins*. 542 U.S. 274, 287, 124 S. Ct. 2562, 2571–2572, 159 L. Ed. 2d 384 (2004).

IQ scores jointly is a complicated endeavor” and cautioned that “even a consistent score is not conclusive evidence of intellectual functioning.” *Id.* at 714, 134 S. Ct. at 1995–96. Even so, the court found, an IQ score was still “of considerable significance” to the evaluation. *Id.* at 723, 134 S. Ct. at 2001. As a result, the court held that “when a defendant's IQ test score falls within the test’s acknowledged and inherent margin of error, the defendant must be able to present additional evidence of intellectual disability, including testimony regarding adaptive deficits.” *Id.*

In 2017, the High Court took up *Moore v. Texas*, 581 U.S. 1, 137 S. Ct. 1039, 197 L. Ed. 2d 416 (*Moore I*). Here, the Court cast *Hall* as holding that “a State cannot refuse to entertain other evidence of intellectual disability when a defendant has an IQ score above 70.” *Moore I*, 581 U.S. at 12, 137 S. Ct. at 1048. While finding that its previous decisions didn’t “demand adherence to everything stated in the latest medical guide,” the Court still held that those decisions did not “license disregard of current medical standards.” *Id.* at 13, 137 S. Ct. at 1049. In dissent, Chief Justice Roberts argued in a footnote that the precise issue of how to deal with multiple scores was still open, and that a phrase in the majority opinion “cannot be read to call into question the approach of States that would not treat a single IQ score as dispositive evidence where the prisoner presented additional higher scores.” *Id.* at 34 n.1, 137 S. Ct. at 1061 n.1.⁴

In South Carolina, an *Atkins* inquiry is guided by this Court’s decision in *Franklin v. Maynard*, 356 S.C. 276, 588 S.E.2d 604 (2003). Handed down shortly after *Atkins*, the decision laid out the standard state courts must use in evaluating claims that a defendant has an intellectual disability and, as a result, is not eligible for the death penalty. The Court first declined to define

⁴ In *Moore II*, the Court again rejected the Texas courts’ approach, finding that the new holding was mostly a rehash of the decision the Court had found unacceptable in *Moore I*. 586 U.S. 133, 139 U.S. 666, 203 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2019). Chief Justice Roberts concurred while noting that the instructions the Court issued to lower courts in *Moore I* still “lacked clarity.” *Id.* at 143, 139 U.S. at 672–73.

intellectual disability differently than the General Assembly had. *See id.* at 278–79, 588 S.E.2d at 605. The Court then explained the burden of proof for an Atkins determination. “The defendant shall have the burden of proving he or she is mentally retarded by a preponderance of the evidence.” *Id.* at 279, 588 S.E.2d at 606.

I. This Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari because the PCR court erred when it used the Flynn Effect to lower Stone’s IQ scores, when there is no authority in South Carolina law supporting the practice and courts nationwide have been divided about whether and how to use the Flynn Effect in Atkins evaluations.

In finding that Stone has an intellectual disability and is ineligible for the death penalty, the PCR court artificially lowered Stone’s IQ scores by applying the Flynn Effect—then could only find one that falls into the range of intellectual disability. This is a truncated and unreliable view. This Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari and clarify that there is not sufficient consensus for South Carolina courts to apply the Flynn Effect in this way.

Only this Court can definitively establish whether South Carolina courts should use the Flynn Effect alter IQ scores when considering *Atkins* petitions. As mentioned in the PCR court’s order, at least three South Carolina circuit courts have already considered the Flynn Effect in similar cases. (App. 10). So far, this Court has not weighed in on the Flynn Effect.⁵ This case provides that chance.

The United States Supreme Court has acknowledged the existence of the Flynn Effect—but not in a favorable way. The majority appears at best ambivalent, calling it “the so-called Flynn Effect—a controversial theory involving the inflation of IQ scores over time[.]” *Dunn v. Reeves*,

⁵ The Court recently discussed the Flynn Effect briefly. *See Aleksey v. State*, — S.C. —, — n.5, — S.E.2d —, — n.5, 2026 WL 1408902, at *2 n.5 (S.C. May 20, 2026). In *Aleksey*, this Court did not determine whether the Flynn Effect could be applied because it found the alterations would not have been dispositive.

594 U.S. 731, 736, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2408, 210 L. Ed. 2d 812 (2021) (per curiam). In its decision, the Supreme Court also noted that the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals had “specifically addressed” one expert’s “reliance on the Flynn Effect, reiterating that this approach ‘has not been accepted as scientifically valid by all courts’ and was ‘not settled in the psychological community.’” *Id.* at 736–37, 141 S. Ct. at 2409 (quoting *Reeves v. State*, 226 So.3d 711, 744 (Ala. Crim. App. 2016)).

The High Court is hardly alone in its skepticism, at least when it comes to applying the Flynn Effect. One justice of the Louisiana Supreme Court argued that while the effect is a “widely accepted” observation, how to use it in court is a different matter. *State v. Dunn*, 41 So. 3d 454, 477 (La. 2010) (Knoll, J., additionally concurring).

What is not widely accepted is whether the Flynn effect should be applied to *individual IQ* scores. As noted above, Flynn observed a population wide increase of approximately 0.3 points per year. It does not follow that the IQ score of every single individual member of the population increases by the same amount.

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