STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number: 2026-000115

RECEIVED

Sep 11 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

BOBBY WAYNE STONE,

V.

RESPONDENT,

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROSALIND S.D. MAJOR

BRIANNA L. CRUZ

Justice 360

900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200

Columbia, SC 29201

(803) 765-1044

Counsel for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

MELODY BROWN

R. BRANDON LARRABEE

Office of the Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549

Columbia, SC 29211

Counsel for Appellant

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

In the evaluating experts’ opinions, this information cumulatively supported finding he had significantly subaverage intellectual functioning. As Dr. Hall explained, understanding has changed over time and clinicians, “now understand that having that strict bright red line” may “in fact make us misdiagnose” someone who is intellectually disabled. App. 209. This requires clinicians to “be more flexible,” and look at the individual’s “functionality” when looking at if the diagnostic criteria are met. App. 209–210. Dr. Hall saw a significant difference in functioning from

¹⁴ During Stone’s school years, the classification of educable mentally handicapped was parallel with the diagnostic criteria for intellectual disability. As Dr. Hall testified, to qualify for the educable mentally handicapped classification at school, a student would need to “have below average or sub-average intellectual functioning in conjunction with deficits of adaptive behavior.” App. 192. She explained that “schools actually call it ‘intellectual disability’ right now.” App. 196, 219. It was established at the hearing that “educable mentally handicapped” was a designation used by the Sumter County school system to classify students as needing special education supports and services parallel to the kinds of supports and services needed by individuals with mild intellectual disability. App. 78–79, 192, 196, 203, 219, 240–241.

what was expected for kids of his age in Stone’s academic achievement testing and found it relevant to her prong one analysis, finding that the IQ testing, along with this information demonstrated that Stone had significantly subaverage intellectual functioning. *Id.*; App. 212, 976. Dr. Boyd reached a similar conclusion, testifying that Stone’s IQ scores “cluster together,” and “that, taken together with the other pieces, support his diagnosis,” as intellectually disabled. App. 62. Considering the evidence before it, the PCR Court reached the same conclusions as the evaluators.

b. Petitioner’s reliance on Hamm v. Smith is misplaced.

Petitioner stakes most of its argument on dissenting opinions in *Hamm v. Smith*, 146 S.Ct. 1251 (2026), a case involving multiple IQ scores. Pet. at 15–16. Dissenting opinions are not, of course, holdings of the Court, and they have no precedential value. Notably, the United States Supreme Court dismissed the Government’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari in *Hamm v. Smith* as improvidently granted, thereby upholding the Eleventh Circuit’s holistic assessment of all information relevant to Smith’s significantly subaverage intellectual functioning. *Smith v. Comm’r Ala. Dep’t, of Corr.*, 2024 WL 4793028, 2024 U.S. App. LEXIS 28981 (11th Cir. Nov. 14, 2024) (per curiam). Here, the PCR Court similarly conducted a holistic assessment of the intellectual functioning evidence to determine if the prong was satisfied. App. 9–14.

Even if this Court were inclined to rely on the *Hamm* dissent, as Petitioner requests, (and even if this issue was not otherwise unpreserved), Justice Alito’s dissent actually supports the PCR Court’s assessment of Stone’s significantly subaverage intellectual functioning. Justice Alito discussed several mechanisms for considering multiple IQ scores in his dissent and opined that, in his view, lower courts may rely on “any reasonably sound method,” to determine an individual’s “true” intellectual functioning, including relying on an expert witness’s testimony about “the

central tendency” of an individual’s IQ scores as part of the assessment. 146 S.Ct. 1276–77. This is precisely what the PCR Court did when considering Stone’s IQ scores as part of the assessment of Stone’s functioning. *See* App. 61–62. (establishing that Stone’s IQ scores “hang pretty close together” and “cluster together,” demonstrating a “relatively consistent pattern” of subaverage intellectual functioning”). Petitioner has identified no deficiency in that assessment, and this Court should not disturb the judgment of the PCR Court.

III. *Atkins* is Settled and Established Precedent From the United States Supreme Court. Granting Certiorari to Reconsider Clearly Settled Federal Law Would Violate the Supremacy Clause, and This Court Should Decline Petitioner’s Request to do so.

Petitioner asks this Court to grant certiorari “to lay the groundwork for a re-evaluation of *Atkins*.” Pet. at 16. This Court should decline that invitation. *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002) established that the Eighth Amendment prohibits the execution of persons with intellectual disability, and the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly reaffirmed that holding, including as recently as May of 2026. *See, e.g., Hall*, 572 U.S. 701; *Brumfield*, 576 U.S. 305; *Moore I*, 581 U.S. 1; *Moore v. Texas*, 586 U.S. 133 (2019) (*Moore II*); *Hamm v. Smith*, 146 S.Ct. 1251 (2026). Petitioner again relies on dissenting opinions, which do not alter the binding nature of *Atkins* and its progeny.

Petitioner also suggests that the standard for determining intellectual disability is so unclear that it cannot be followed. *E.g.*, Pet. at 17. This is also not true. South Carolina courts have routinely applied the clinical guidelines and South Carolina’s statutory definition of intellectual disability¹⁵ when assessing *Atkins* claims.¹⁶ *Hall* and *Moore* provide clear guidance: courts

¹⁵ S.C. Code § 16-3-20(c) (defining intellectual disability); *Franklin v. Maynard*, 356 S.C. 276, 278–79, 588 S.E.2d 604, 605 (2003) (finding that § 16-3-20(c) complies with *Atkins*).

¹⁶ *See, e.g.*, Order Finding Defendant Mentally Retarded in *State v. Pearson*, 96-GS-32-3338 (S.C. Ct. Gen. Sess. Dec. 14, 2005); Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief in *Franklin v. South Carolina*, 96-CP-45-117 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pleas

determining intellectual disability must “be informed by the medical community’s diagnostic framework.” *Moore I*, 581 U.S. at 12–13 (quoting *Hall*, 572 U.S. 719). This approach is not only clearly workable, as it has been consistently applied by South Carolina courts and does not require modification or clarification.¹⁷

Finally, this Court lacks the authority under the Supremacy Clause to reconsider binding United States Supreme Court precedent. “The Supremacy Clause provides that the Constitution, federal statutes, and treaties constitute ‘the Supreme Law of the Land.’” *Kansas v. Garcia*, 589 U.S. 191, 202 (2020) (quoting U.S. Const. Art. VI, Cl. 2). Because *Atkins* and its progeny are well-established federal constitutional law, this Court has no authority to override or reconsider them. Petitioner provides no basis for this court to do so. This Court should therefore deny Petitioner’s request to grant certiorari for this purpose.

IV. Allowing Successive Actions Raising *Prima Facie Atkins* Claims is Necessary to Prevent Unconstitutional Executions.

Petitioner complains that the PCR Court should have summarily dismissed Stone’s *Atkins* claim but identifies no error in the PCR Court’s application of the standard governing summary dismissal, nor does it explain why the court was required to dismiss a claim alleging that Stone is constitutionally exempt from execution without first developing the factual record. Instead, Petitioner asks this Court to create a categorical rule barring successive *Atkins* claims. That request goes well beyond correcting any error in the PCR Court’s ruling and would require this Court to

Jan. 26, 2011), Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief in *Elmore v. South Carolina*, 05-CP-24-1205 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pleas Feb. 1, 2010); Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief in *Simmons v. South Carolina*, 05-CP-18-1368 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pleas Oct. 15, 2013); Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief in *Bell v. State*, 03-CP-04-1857 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pleas Nov. 16, 2016); Order Finding Defendant Intellectually Disabled in *State v. Brown*, 2011-GS-30-1523 (S.C. Ct. Gen. Sess. Apr. 14, 2016).

¹⁷ The PCR Court in this case followed this exact framework, evaluating expert testimony, clinical assessments, and evidence in light of current medical standards. The PCR Court’s thorough application of the *Atkins* framework demonstrates that the constitutional standard is both clear and administrable. Petitioner’s dissatisfaction with the outcome of a properly conducted *Atkins* hearing does not render the constitutional standard unworkable.

eliminate a procedural avenue that has previously been afforded to other similarly situated applicants and one that is necessary to ensure the State does not execute a person whom the Constitution prohibits it from executing.

a. *The PCR Court properly denied the State's motion to dismiss.*

As an initial matter, Petitioner identified no basis for summarily disposing of Stone's *Atkins* claim beyond its assertions that the claim was "improperly successive and untimely." Pet. at 18. The PCR Court concluded that those procedural objections did not warrant dismissal without an opportunity to develop the facts and determine whether Stone is constitutionally exempt from execution. App. 582.

Summary dismissal of a PCR application is only appropriate when "(1) it is apparent on the face of the application that there is no need for a hearing to develop any facts and (2) the applicant is not entitled to relief." *Leamon v. State*, 363 S.C. 432, 434, 611 S.E.2d 494, 495 (2005). Where, as here, when no evidentiary hearing has been held and the record does not establish that the applicant is plainly barred from relief, summary dismissal is inappropriate. The PCR Court therefore properly denied the State's motion and allowed Stone's *Atkins* claim to proceed.¹⁸

b. *This Court should reject Petitioner's invitation to abolish successive freestanding Atkins claims.*

Petitioner asks this Court to abolish or severely restrict a death-sentenced individual's ability to bring an *Atkins* claim in a successive PCR application. Pet. at 19–20. This Court should reject that invitation. Once an individual is determined to be a person with intellectual disability,

¹⁸ The PCR Court also correctly recognized, "*Atkins* represents a complete categorical bar on the execution of the intellectually disabled," and a person with intellectual disability "cannot be executed under *any* circumstances." App. 581 (emphasis added). The PCR Court found that depriving Stone of an opportunity to establish intellectual disability would "raise [procedural] form over [the] substance" of the claim—a practice which "has explicitly been discouraged by the Supreme Court of the United States." App. 582–583 (citing *Hall*, 572 U.S. at 704).

the State lacks the authority to execute him. *Moore I*, 581 U.S. at 12 (*Atkins* “restrict[s]...the State’s power to take the life of’ *any* intellectually disabled individual”) (emphasis supplied). Petitioner has presented no argument, persuasive or otherwise, on why it should be permitted to execute a person who falls within the Eighth Amendment’s categorical ban.

As this Court has recognized, procedural rules cannot be applied so rigidly that they deprive an applicant of a full and fair opportunity to litigate a substantial constitutional claim. *See Robertson v. State*, 418 S.C. 505, 795 S.E.2d 29 (2016). As such, Petitioner’s reliance on *Robertson* is misplaced. *Robertson* did not foreclose successive PCR applications; it recognized that procedural rules may yield when their rigid application would deprive an applicant of a full and fair opportunity to litigate a substantial claim. *Id.* at 513, 795 S.E.2d at 33. There, this Court permitted a successive application because Robertson’s prior PCR counsel was unqualified. *Id.* at 516–17, 795 S.E.2d at 35. That principle applies with even greater force here, where Stone’s successive application concerns not merely a statutory or procedural right, but a constitutional bar on the State’s authority to execute him.

This Court has likewise allowed successive *Atkins* claims to proceed when applicants presented a prima facie case of intellectual disability. *See, e.g.*, Third 120 Day Status Report, *Aleksey v. State*, No. 2015-CP-38-00764 (S.C. Ct. Comm. Pleas Jun. 7, 2017); *Woods v. State*, No. 2019-001713, 2019 WL 6898088 (S.C. Dec. 18, 2019) (per curiam) (ordering a PCR hearing on intellectual disability where counsel previously raised and voluntarily dismissed an *Atkins* claim); *State v. Terry*, No. 1997-006197 (S.C. Apr. 6, 2022). In *Woods*, this Court specifically recognized the categorical nature of the *Atkins* bar and ordered further proceedings notwithstanding the claim’s procedural history. *Woods*, 2019 WL 6898088, at *1.

The history of *Atkins* litigation in South Carolina further confirms that allowing such claims to proceed has not opened the floodgates. Only a small handful of death-sentenced individuals have pursued *Atkins* claims through successive PCR proceedings, and those claims were supported by indicia of significantly subaverage intellectual functioning, adaptive deficits, and developmental onset, as well as expert opinions supporting a prima facie case of intellectual disability. Moreover, since *Atkins* was decided, 23 people have been executed in South Carolina. None of them attempted to derail their executions by lodging a last minute, unsupported claim they were intellectually disabled. There is simply no evidence that this exception is being used frivolously or for the purposes of delay.

Nor do unsuccessful *Atkins* claims justify eliminating the opportunity to litigate meritorious ones. The existing system permits courts to consider the evidence, evaluate expert opinions, and reject claims that fail the constitutional standard while preserving an avenue for claims that succeed. *See, e.g.,* Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief in *Elmore v. South Carolina*, 05-CP-24-1205; Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief in *Bell v. State*, 03-CP-04-1857. The rarity of these cases, and the fact that courts have both rejected and granted *Atkins* claims, demonstrates that the process can distinguish unsupported claims from meritorious ones.

The question, therefore, is not whether successive *Atkins* litigation is generally burdensome (it is not), *see* Pet. at 19, but whether Stone should be denied the same opportunity afforded to other applicants who presented a prima facie case of intellectual disability. Stone has presented evidence of significantly subaverage intellectual functioning, adaptive deficits, developmental onset, and expert opinions supporting intellectual disability. Given this Court's treatment of similarly situated applicants, denying Stone an opportunity to litigate his claim would be

inconsistent and particularly troubling where the consequence could be execution of a person whom the Constitution prohibits the State from executing.

Petitioner's reliance on *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) is equally misplaced. Pet. at 20. *Torrence* abolished the judicially created *in favorem vitae* doctrine, which required appellate courts to independently review the entire record in death penalty cases for legal error, including unpreserved issues. *Id.* at 60–61, 406 S.E.2d at 324. In abolishing the doctrine, this Court concluded the doctrine was no longer necessary because other procedural safeguards adequately protect defendants from wrongful convictions and unlawful death sentences. *Id.* at 61–62, 406 S.E.2d at 324. Nothing in *Torrence* eliminated a defendant's constitutional rights to challenge a sentence the State lacks authority to impose. *See Franklin*, 356 S.C. at 280, 588 S.E.2d at 606; S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(a). Unlike *in favorem vitae*, a procedural mechanism created by courts, *Atkins* established a constitutional limit on the State's authority to execute.

This Court need not create a broad exception to procedural rules to reach the right result here. It need only apply the same principle it has applied to other *Atkins* applicants: where a death-sentenced individual presents a *prima facie* case of intellectual disability, he should be permitted to litigate whether the Constitution prohibits his execution. Stone asks for no more. He asks only for the same opportunity this Court has afforded others—and for the Court not to permit procedural rules to produce the very result *Atkins* forbids.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in this Return, the PCR Court's finding that Stone is a person with intellectual disability and therefore ineligible for the death penalty pursuant to *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), is supported by ample, probative evidence. The State's Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.